Recommendations to Reduce the Risk of Transmission of Hepatitis C Virus (HCV) by Human Cells, Tissues, and Cellular and Tissue-Based Products (HCT/Ps)

Draft Guidance for Industry

This guidance document is for comment purposes only.

Submit one set of either electronic or written comments on this draft guidance by the date provided in the *Federal Register* notice announcing the availability of the draft guidance. Submit electronic comments to https://www.regulations.gov. Submit written comments to the Dockets Management Staff (HFA-305), Food and Drug Administration, 5630 Fishers Lane, Rm. 1061, Rockville, MD 20852. You should identify all comments with the docket number listed in the notice of availability that publishes in the *Federal Register*.

Additional copies of this guidance are available from the Office of Communication, Outreach and Development (OCOD), 10903 New Hampshire Ave., Bldg. 71, Rm. 3128, Silver Spring, MD 20993-0002, or by calling 1-800-835-4709 or 240-402-8010, or email ocod@fda.hhs.gov, or from the Internet at https://www.fda.gov/vaccines-blood-biologics/guidance-compliance-regulatory-information-biologics/biologics-guidances.

For questions on the content of this guidance, contact OCOD at the phone numbers or email address listed above.

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Food and Drug Administration Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research January 2025

 $Draft-Not\ for\ Implementation$

Table of Contents

I.	INTRODUCTION				
II.	BACKGROUND				
III.	DISCUSSION				
	A. 1	Risk of Transmission			
	2	Potential for Transmission of HCV by HCT/Ps			
	В.	Severity of Effect	6		
	C.	Availability of Appropriate Screening and/or Testing Measures	6		
IV.	RECOMMENDATIONS				
	A.	Screening a Donor for Risk Factors and Conditions of HCV Infection	7		
	В.	Screening a Donor for Clinical Evidence of HCV Infection			
	C.	Screening a Donor for Physical Evidence of HCV Infection	10		
	D.	Testing a Donor for Evidence of HCV Infection	11		
V.	REFERENCES1				

Draft – Not for Implementation

Recommendations to Reduce the Risk of Transmission of Hepatitis C Virus (HCV) by Human Cells, Tissues, and Cellular and Tissue-Based Products (HCT/Ps)

Draft Guidance for Industry

This draft guidance, when finalized, will represent the current thinking of the Food and Drug Administration (FDA or Agency) on this topic. It does not establish any rights for any person and is not binding on FDA or the public. You can use an alternative approach if it satisfies the requirements of the applicable statutes and regulations. To discuss an alternative approach, contact the FDA staff responsible for this guidance as listed on the title page.

I. INTRODUCTION

We, FDA or Agency, are issuing this guidance to assist you, establishments making donor eligibility determinations, in understanding the requirements in Title 21 Code of Federal Regulations, part 1271, subpart C (21 CFR part 1271, subpart C). The regulations under 21 CFR part 1271, subpart C set out requirements for determining donor eligibility, including donor screening and testing, for donors of human cells, tissues, or cellular or tissue-based products (HCT/Ps).²

This guidance applies to human cells and tissues recovered on or after May 25, 2005, the effective date of the regulations contained in 21 CFR part 1271, subpart C, and provides recommendations to reduce the risk of transmission of hepatitis C virus (HCV) by HCT/Ps. This guidance updates information regarding HCV risk included in the guidance entitled "Eligibility Determination for Donors of Human Cells, Tissues, and Cellular and Tissue-Based Products (HCT/Ps), Guidance for Industry," dated August 2007 (August 2007 HCT/P DE Guidance), by revising recommendations for: 1) donor screening that includes reducing certain time-based risk factors and conditions, and 2) assessing every HCT/P donor for HCV risk using the same individual risk-based questions for every donor regardless of sex or gender.

When finalized, this guidance will provide, specific recommendations for HCT/P donor testing and screening for risk associated with HCV infection and supersede information regarding HCV risk in the August 2007 HCT/P DE Guidance.

In general, FDA's guidance documents, including this guidance, do not establish legally enforceable responsibilities. Instead, guidances describe the FDA's current thinking on a topic

¹ See 21 CFR 1271.50.

² HCT/Ps are defined in 21 CFR 1271.3(d) as "articles containing or consisting of human cells or tissues that are intended for implantation, transplantation, infusion, or transfer into a human recipient."

Draft – Not for Implementation

and should be viewed only as recommendations, unless specific regulatory or statutory requirements are cited. The use of the word should in FDA's guidances means that something is suggested or recommended, but not required.

II. BACKGROUND

Hepatitis C virus (HCV) is a single-stranded ribonucleic acid (RNA) enveloped virus and HCV infection is a major global public health problem (Refs. 1-5). According to the World Health Organization (WHO), 50 million people are chronically infected with HCV worldwide and approximately 242,000 died in 2022, mostly from cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma (primary liver cancer), as a result of their HCV infection (Ref. 1).

During 2022, in the United States (U.S.), a total of 4,828 cases of acute hepatitis C were reported to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) by 46 states. After adjusting for underascertainment and under-reporting, CDC estimated there were 67,400 HCV infections in 2022 (Ref. 6). Between the years 2017 and 2020, an estimated 2.4 million people were living in the U.S. who were infected with HCV (Ref. 7).

Extrahepatic diseases, such as cryoglobulinemia, renal disease, lymphoma, diabetes, cardiovascular and dermatologic disorders, have been associated with chronic HCV infection and can range from mild to severe and life-threatening (Refs. 8-18). Although the frequency of such findings is uncertain, they are not uncommon. In one small study of 321 HCV patients, extrahepatic diseases were seen in 38% of those infected with HCV (Ref. 8). The annual mortality rate has been calculated at roughly 4% among patients with HCV-related cirrhosis and 30% in patients with HCV who subsequently developed hepatocellular carcinoma (Ref. 18).

III. DISCUSSION

In the Federal Register of May 25, 2004 (69 FR 29786), FDA issued a final rule entitled "Eligibility Determination for Donors of Human Cells, Tissues, and Cellular and Tissue-Based Products" (21 CFR part 1271, subpart C), which took effect on May 25, 2005. In this final rule, FDA identified HCV as a relevant communicable disease agent or disease (RCDAD) under 21 CFR 1271.3(r)(1). Thus, for donors of HCT/Ps recovered on or after May 25, 2005, screening and testing for HCV is required (21 CFR 1271.75(a)(1)(iii) and 1271.85(a)(4)). Specific tests for HCV, and donor screening for specific risk factors and conditions associated with HCV infection, have been recommended for HCT/P donors in order to adequately and appropriately reduce risk of transmission. Specific recommendations for donor testing and screening for risk associated with HCV were issued in the August 2007 HCT/P DE Guidance.

Draft – Not for Implementation

A. Risk of Transmission

There is a risk of transmission of HCV by HCT/Ps. This is supported by reported cases of HCV transmission via transfusion of blood products, by organ transplantation, and from the use of HCT/Ps.

 HCV is transmitted primarily through parenteral exposure to infectious blood or body fluids that contain blood. Possible exposures include injection-drug use, which is currently the most common mode of HCV transmission in the U.S., but other routes of exposure include birth to an HCV-infected mother, sex with an HCV-infected person, sharing personal items contaminated with infectious blood (e.g., razors or toothbrushes), health-care procedures that involve invasive procedures, such as injections where there have been breakdowns in infection control practices, unregulated tattooing or ear/body piercing, receipt of infected donated blood or blood products, needlestick injuries in healthcare settings, and intranasal drug use (Refs. 19-49). HCV transmission has also occurred through transplantation of solid organs (Refs. 50-58) and the transplantation, implantation, or infusion of various types of human cells or tissues (Refs. 55-57, 59-62). Although the prevalence rate of HCV in U.S. tissue donors has been estimated to be lower than in the general population, the estimated probability of undetected viremia at the time of donation is higher among tissue donors than among first-time blood donors (Ref. 63).

1. Potential for Transmission of HCV by Blood Products and Solid Organs

HCV can be transmitted by blood, blood products and solid organs (Refs. 32-33, 50-58). Now that more advanced screening tests for HCV are used by blood establishments, the risk of transmission to a recipient of blood or blood products is considered extremely low, with an estimated risk of less than or equal to one per 1 million donors for undetected HCV infection (Ref. 64).

Beginning in September 1985, FDA recommended that blood establishments indefinitely defer male donors who have had sex with another male, even one time, since 1977, because of the strong clustering of AIDS and the subsequent discovery of high rates of HIV infection among MSM (Ref. 15). FDA subsequently concluded that the available evidence supported a change from the indefinite deferral for MSM, and in December 2015, recommended the 12-month deferral for MSM.

While the studies used to support blood donor deferral recommendations (e.g., ADVANCE study, risk assessments) are not specific to HCT/Ps, they are nonetheless relevant beyond blood donation. These studies considered certain risk factors associated with blood donors acquiring HIV, which are also risk factors for acquiring HCV.

Draft – Not for Implementation

In 2014, FDA launched the Transfusion Transmissible Infections Monitoring System (TTIMS), - a program implemented in the U.S. in order to facilitate monitoring blood safety, particularly in the context of changes in blood collection policy and practice. Following implementation of a 12-month blood donor deferral policy in December 2015 for men who have sex with men (MSM), four years of data from TTIMS indicated there had been no increase in risk to the blood supply from the policy change (Refs. 64-67). Additionally, other countries, including the United Kingdom and Canada moved to a 3-month deferral period for MSM, after which, there were no reports from these countries suggesting safety concerns following the implementation of this change. Thereafter, FDA reduced the recommended blood donor deferral period to 3 months for MSM, through recommendations published in guidance in April 2020 (Ref. 67).

In addition to shortening the recommended deferral period for MSM, FDA concurrently evaluated the available scientific evidence that could support modification of several other blood donor deferrals related to risk for HIV. Based on the experience in the United Kingdom and Canada, along with the detection characteristics of the NAT noted above, in April 2020, FDA also revised the recommended deferrals for individuals who exchange sex for money or drugs or engage in non-prescription injection drug use from indefinite to 3-month deferrals. In addition, for similar reasons, the recommended 12-month deferral for other risk factors, including contact with another person's blood, receipt of a blood transfusion or a recent tattoo or piercing, was revised to 3 months.

FDA subsequently helped facilitate and fund the ADVANCE (Assessing Donor Variability and New Concepts in Eligibility) study, a pilot study intended to evaluate individual risk assessment strategies as an alternative to time-based deferrals for MSM (Ref. 68). The ADVANCE study examined a number of HIV risk factors, such as anal sex and rates of HIV infection among MSM study participants.

FDA also recognized that other countries with similar HIV epidemiology as the U.S. revised their donor eligibility criteria for MSM, based on risk assessments performed in these countries. Notably, the United Kingdom in 2021 and Canada in 2022 introduced a new approach for donor questioning based on individual risk factors (Refs. 69-73). The approach is based on surveillance, epidemiology, and risk assessments that demonstrate that new or multiple sexual partners, and for those with new or multiple partners, anal sex, are the most significant risk factors that increase the likelihood of HIV infection (Refs. 69-74). The United Kingdom and Canada have adopted an individual risk-based approach that asks all presenting blood donors (regardless of sex or gender), if they have had a new sexual partner or more than one sexual partner in the last 3 months, and if so, they are asked if they had anal sex (Refs. 71, 75). Individuals who report having a new sexual partner and anal sex or having more than one sexual partner and anal sex in

Draft – Not for Implementation

the last three months are deferred from blood donation. The United Kingdom and Canada have not reported safety concerns following the implementation of this individual risk-based deferral policy.

Subsequently, FDA concluded that implementing an individual risk-based approach will maintain the safety of the blood supply and in May 2023, FDA issued guidance that (1) recommends eliminating the blood donor screening questions specific to MSM and women who have sex with MSM; and (2) recommends assessing blood donor eligibility using the same individual risk-based questions relevant to HIV risk for every donor regardless of sex or gender (Ref. 67).

Other federal agencies have also reconsidered the transmission risk of HCV through solid organs because transmission of HCV infection has been reported after solid organ transplantation (Refs. 50-58). When quantifying risk of transmission of an undetected HCV infection from an organ donor with an HCV risk factor, the probability has been estimated to be fewer than one per 1 million when the donor was additionally screened by testing using a nucleic acid test (NAT) for HCV at least 7 days after the donor's most recent exposure (Ref. 76). In addition, guidelines for assessing solid organ donors and monitoring transplant recipients for risk of HCV (as well as human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), and hepatitis B virus (HBV)) infection have evolved (Ref. 77). An evidence-based process was used to update guidelines that included developing key questions to evaluate behavioral and non-behavioral risk factors associated with transmission of these viruses, and an exhaustive literature review was undertaken where they were categorized according to strength and data quality, and evidence was graded. Organ donor screening guidelines were revised to identify donors at risk for acquiring a recent HIV, HBV, or HCV infection (Ref. 78).

2. Potential for Transmission of HCV by HCT/Ps

HCV has been transmitted by HCT/Ps, including from frozen bone, frozen tendon, cryopreserved blood vessels (i.e., saphenous vein), cryopreserved non-valved cardiac tissue (a patch), hematopoietic stem cell products (Refs. 55-57, 59-62), and has been detected in semen (Ref. 79).

Advances in HCV donor testing (e.g., HCV antibody assays, and HCV NATs) have reduced the "window period" when HCV RNA and/or HCV antibody are not detectable by screening tests (Refs. 77-78, 80-86). Using NAT, HCV RNA is generally detected in blood approximately 1 to 3 weeks after infection but may be detected in as little as 3 to 5 days (Refs. 7, 33, 77, 81-83, 87-91).

Formal studies and collection of data specific to HCT/P donors are lacking, however, many of the studies used to support blood donor deferral recommendations (e.g., ADVANCE study, risk assessments, etc.) are relevant

Draft – Not for Implementation

beyond blood donation. These studies considered certain risk factors associated with donors acquiring HIV, and the same risk factors associated with acquiring HIV are relevant to screening not only blood donors but also donors of HCT/Ps. Further, many of the key risk factors for acquiring HIV are also risk factors for acquiring HCV. In addition, the evidence-based process used to update organ donor screening guidelines that evaluated behavioral and non-behavioral risk factors associated with transmission of HIV, HBV, or HCV, for which a number of risk factors overlap, provides substantial support to identify donors at risk for acquiring a recent infection. Having a recent infection is relevant to risk of transmission presented by HCT/P donors in addition to organ donors. Given these data, experience with a 3-month blood donor deferral in other countries, and the uniform use of HCV NAT for testing HCT/P donors (which can detect HCV well within a 3-month period following initial infection), the Agency concludes, at this time, that a change to a recommended 3-month risk period as detailed below is scientifically supported for certain risk factors and conditions associated with HCV for donors of HCT/Ps (Refs. 77-78).

Additionally, based on our review of the available science, adequacy of available test methods, studies used to evaluate risk behaviors, and experiences with updated blood donor screening questions, FDA also recommends eliminating the HCT/P donor screening questions specific to MSM and women who have sex with MSM and, instead, recommends assessing every HCT/P donor for HCV risk using the same individual risk-based questions relevant to HCV risk regardless of sex or gender.

B. Severity of Effect

Acute hepatitis C is rarely fulminant or fatal; many cases are asymptomatic and go undetected (Refs. 3, 6, 32, 80, 92). Approximately 50-80% of those infected will develop chronic hepatitis C whereas 20-50% will spontaneously resolve their illness (Refs. 3, 6, 32, 80, 87).

Chronic infection with HCV can lead to severe liver disease and complications such as advanced fibrosis, cirrhosis, hepatocellular carcinoma, and death. As a result, HCV infection is the most common indication for liver transplantation in the U.S. (Refs. 3-4, 80, 92). In 2017, there were an estimated 17,253 HCV-associated deaths reported from among 325.7 million U.S. residents correlating to an age-adjusted, HCV-associated death rate of 4.13 (95% CI, 4.07–4.20) deaths per 100,000 population (Ref. 6).

C. Availability of Appropriate Screening and/or Testing Measures

As described above, appropriate donor screening measures have been developed for HCV and specific details are listed below for screening a donor for clinical and physical evidence, and risk factors and conditions to reduce the risk of transmission of HCV.

Draft – Not for Implementation

FDA-licensed donor screening tests to detect antibodies to HCV (anti-HCV) and to detect HCV viral nucleic acid (using NAT) are available for screening cadaveric (non-heart-beating) and/or living donors of HCT/Ps.

The addition of NAT to screen HCT/P donors significantly reduces the risk of transmission of HCV (Refs. 63, 77, 81-83, 94-95). The probability of detecting HCV viremia at the time of tissue donation has been estimated to be reduced from 1 in 42,000 to 1 in 421,000 when individual HCV NAT is used (Ref. 63). An FDA-licensed donor screening NAT for HCV can detect an earlier stage of HCV infection than hepatitis C antibody tests. HCV RNA may be detected within 1 to 3 weeks after HCV infection, whereas HCV antibodies are detected by enzyme linked immunoassay (EIA) in a blood specimen 8 to 12 weeks after infection (Refs. 7, 33, 58, 77, 81-83, 87-96). Some of the FDA-licensed NAT assays are multiplex assays that can simultaneously detect HIV, HCV, and HBV in a single blood specimen, thereby improving the feasibility of using NAT routinely for HCV (Refs. 48, 95).

IV. RECOMMENDATIONS

A. Screening a Donor for Risk Factors and Conditions of HCV Infection

Unless an exception identified in 21 CFR 1271.90(a) applies, you must review relevant medical records (21 CFR 1271.3(s)) and ask questions about the donor's medical history and relevant conditions and behavioral risks, including risk factors for RCDADs (21 CFR 1271.75(a)).

The list below provides risk factors and conditions for which we recommend screening in order to reduce the risk of transmission of HCV infection. Except as noted in this section, and in accordance with 21 CFR 1271.75(d), you must determine to be ineligible any potential donor who is identified as having a risk factor for HCV. The following conditions or behaviors should be considered risk factors for HCV:

- 1. Persons who have ever had a positive or reactive screening test for HCV (Refs. 55-57, 59-62, 79).
- 2. Persons who have engaged in non-prescription injection drug use in the preceding 3 months, including intravenous, intramuscular, or subcutaneous injections (Refs. 22-23, 38-41, 77-78).
- 3. Persons who have had sex³ in exchange for money or drugs or other payment⁴ in the preceding 3 months (Refs. 38-42, 51, 77-78, 97-101).

³ Throughout this guidance, unless specified as "anal sex," the term "sex" or "sexual contact" refers to vaginal, anal, or oral sex, regardless of whether a condom or other protection is used.

⁴ https://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media asset/2024-terminology-guidelines en.pdf

Draft – Not for Implementation

303		
304	4.	Persons who have had sexual contact in the preceding 3 months with any
305		individual who has ever had a positive test for HCV infection (Refs. 34-
306		43, 76-77).
307		
308	5	Persons who have had sexual contact in the preceding 3 months with any
309		individual who has exchanged sex for money, drugs or other payment. If
310		there is any uncertainty about when their sexual partner exchanged sex for
311		money, drugs or other payment, the person is ineligible for 3 months
312		(Refs. 22-23, 34-43, 51, 76-78).
313		
314	6.	Persons who have had sexual contact in the preceding 3 months with any
315		individual who has engaged in non-prescription injection drug use. If
316		there is any uncertainty about when their sexual partner engaged in non-
317		prescription injection drug use, the person is ineligible for 3 months (Refs.
318		34-43, 76-77).
319		, ,
320	7.	Persons who have had a new sexual partner ⁵ in the preceding 3 months
321		and have had anal sex in the preceding three months (Refs. 4, 15, 30, 38,
322		59-61, 77-78, 80).
323		, , ,
324		Note: An anonymous semen donor who reports this behavior may be
325		eligible provided that the semen donation is kept in quarantine and the
326		results from initial and requisite retesting of the donor are negative (or
327		non-reactive) and no other risk factor for an RCDAD is identified. 6 If a
328		directed semen donor reports this behavior, you may elect to perform the
329		quarantine and retesting steps described for an anonymous semen donor.
330		If such steps are taken, the directed semen donor may be eligible provided
331		that the results from initial testing and retesting of the donor are negative
332		(or non-reactive) and no other risk factor for any RCDAD is identified.
333		
334	8.	Persons who have had more than one sexual partner ⁷ in the preceding 3
335		months and have had anal sex in the preceding three months (Refs. 4, 15,
336		30, 38, 59-61, 77-78, 80).
337		
338		Note: An anonymous semen donor who reports this behavior may be
339		eligible provided that the semen donation is kept in quarantine and the

⁵ For the purposes of this guidance, the following examples would be considered having sex with a new partner: having sex with someone for the first time; or having had sex with someone in a relationship that ended in the past and having sex again with that person in the last 3 months.

⁶ In accordance with 21 CFR 1271.60(a), you must quarantine semen from anonymous donors until the retesting required under § 1271.85(d) is complete. In accordance with 21 CFR 1271.85(d), at least 6 months after the date of donation of semen from anonymous donors, you must collect a new specimen from the donor and test it for evidence of infection due to the communicable disease agents for which testing is required under paragraphs (a), (b), and (c) of 1271.85(d).

⁷ See footnote 5.

Draft – Not for Implementation

results from initial and requisite retesting of the donor are negative (or
non-reactive) and no other risk factor for an RCDAD is identified. ⁸ If a
directed semen donor reports this behavior, you may elect to perform the
quarantine and retesting steps described for an anonymous semen donor.
If such steps are taken, the directed semen donor may be eligible provided
that the results from initial testing and retesting of the donor are negative
(or non-reactive) and no other risk factor for any RCDAD is identified.

- 9. Persons who have been exposed in the preceding 3 months to known or suspected HCV-infected blood through percutaneous inoculation (e.g., needle stick) or through contact with an open wound, non-intact skin, or mucous membrane (Refs. 44-46).
- 10. Persons who have been in lock up, jail, prison, or a juvenile correctional facility for more than 72 consecutive hours in the preceding 3 months (Refs. 70, 105-107).
- 11. Persons who have lived with (resided in the same dwelling) another person who has clinically active (symptomatic) HCV infection in the preceding 3 months (Refs. 47-49).
- 12. Persons who have undergone tattooing, ear piercing or body piercing in the preceding 3 months, in which sterile procedures were not used, e.g., contaminated instruments and/or ink were used, or shared instruments that had not been sterilized between uses were used. A person may be eligible, for example, if a tattoo was applied by a state regulated entity with sterile needles and non-reused ink, or if ear or body piercing was done using single-use equipment (Refs. 67, 108-119).
- 13. Children 1 month of age or younger born to a mother with, or at risk for, HCV infection; see risk factors above (Refs. 6, 102-105).

B. Screening a Donor for Clinical Evidence of HCV Infection

Unless an exception identified in 21 CFR 1271.90(a) applies, you must review relevant medical records for clinical evidence of relevant communicable disease agents and diseases (21 CFR 1271.75). In accordance with 21 CFR 1271.75(d), you must determine to be ineligible any potential donor who exhibits clinical evidence of HCV (Refs. 5, 30-31, 87-88, 120-122). Examples of clinical evidence of HCV may include:

- A prior positive or reactive screening test for HCV;
- Unexplained jaundice;
- Unexplained hepatomegaly;
- Generalized lymphadenopathy; and/or

⁸ See footnote 6.

Draft – Not for Implementation

• Unexplained generalized rash or fever.

Records of the following laboratory data might assist you in making the donor eligibility determination when there is an inconclusive history of hepatitis infection, however, these test results should not be used alone to determine donor eligibility:

- alanine aminotransferase (ALT);
- aspartate aminotransferase (AST);
- bilirubin; or
- prothrombin time.

C. Screening a Donor for Physical Evidence of HCV Infection

Relevant medical records (21 CFR 1271.3(s)) include the report of the physical assessment of a cadaveric donor (21 CFR 1271.3(o)) or the physical examination of a living donor.

Some of the following observations are not physical evidence of HCV, but rather are indications of high-risk behavior associated with the disease and would increase the donor's relevant communicable disease risk. Unless an exception identified in 21 CFR 1271.90(a) applies, in accordance with 21 CFR 1271.75(d)(1), you must determine to be ineligible any potential donor who has risk factors or clinical evidence of HCV. The following are examples of physical evidence of HCV or high-risk behavior associated with HCV:

1. Physical evidence for risk of sexually transmitted diseases and infections, such as perianal lesions, genital ulcerative disease, herpes simplex, or chancroid (when making a donor eligibility determination, you should consider these findings in light of other information obtained about the donor) (Refs. 34-43, 123-128).

2. Physical evidence of nonmedical percutaneous drug use such as needle tracks; your examination should include examination of tattoos, which might be covering needle tracks (Refs. 5, 22-23, 68, 108-111).

3. Physical evidence of recent tattooing, ear piercing, or body piercing. Persons who have undergone tattooing, ear piercing, or body piercing in the preceding 3 months, in which sterile procedures were not used (e.g., contaminated instruments and or/ink were used), or instruments that had not been sterilized between uses were used. A person may be eligible, for example, if a tattoo was applied by a state regulated entity with sterile needles and non-reused ink, or if ear or body piercing was done using single-use equipment. (Refs. 67, 108-119).

Draft – Not for Implementation

426 427		4.	Unexplained jaundice, hepatomegaly, or icterus. Hepatomegaly may not				
428			be apparent in a physical assessment unless an autopsy is performed (Refs. 5, 30-31, 87-88, 129-130).				
429							
430		5.	Generalized lymphadenopathy (Refs. 131-132).				
431							
432		6.	Unexplained generalized rash or fever (Refs. 5, 30-31, 87-88, 122, 129-				
433			130).				
434							
435	D.	Testi	ng a Donor for Evidence of HCV Infection				
436							
437	You n	nust tes	at all donors of HCT/Ps for HCV as required under 21 CFR 1271.85(a),				
438	unless	unless an exception under 21 CFR 1271.90(a) applies, and as required by 21 CFR					
439	1271.	1271.80(c), you must use appropriate FDA-licensed, approved, or cleared screening tests					
440	in acc	ordance	e with the manufacturer's instructions. ⁹				
441							
442	The fo	ollowin	g donor screening tests adequately and appropriately reduce the risk of				
443		transmission of HCV (Refs. 63, 76-77, 81-86). Our recommendations on specific tests					
444	may c	hange i	in the future due to technological advances or evolving scientific knowledge:				
445	•	Ü					
446		1.	FDA-licensed donor screening test for antibody to hepatitis C virus (anti-				
447			HCV); and				
448			,,				
449		2.	FDA-licensed donor screening Nucleic Acid Test for HCV (HCV NAT);				
450			or a combination or multiplex NAT that includes HCV.				
451			1				
452	Anv I	HCT/P	donor whose specimen tests negative (or non-reactive) for both assays (i.e.,				
453	•	anti-HCV and HCV NAT) is considered to be negative (or non-reactive) when making a					
454		donor eligibility determination. Note that a negative (or non-reactive) test does not					
455		_	nean that a donor is eligible; donor screening also applies as described above.				
456		J	8 / 8 11				
457	Any HCT/P donor whose specimen tests positive (or reactive) using either of the assays						
458	•		V or HCV NAT) is considered ineligible (21 CFR 1271.80(d)(1)).				
459	(=, =		,				
460							

⁹ The following Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research (CBER) website includes a list of FDA-licensed, approved, or cleared donor screening tests (including manufacturers and tradenames): https://www.fda.gov/vaccines-blood-biologics/safety-availability-biologics/testing-human-cells-tissues-and-cellular-and-tissue-based-product-hctp-donors-relevant-communicable.

Draft – Not for Implementation

462 V. REFERENCES

- World Health Organization, Hepatitis C, April 2024. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/hepatitis-c. Accessed June 10, 2024.
- Scheel TK, et al. Understanding the hepatitis C virus life cycle paves the way for highly effective therapies. Nat Med. 2013 Jul; 19(7): 837–849.
- World Health Organization. Web Annex B. WHO estimates of the prevalence and incidence of hepatitis C virus infection by WHO region, 2015. In: Global hepatitis report 2017.
- 471 4. Polaris Observatory HCV Collaborators. Global prevalence and genotype distribution of hepatitis C virus infection in 2015: a modelling study. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol 2017; 2: 161–176.
- 474 5. Spearman CW, et al. Hepatitis C. Lancet 2019; 394(10207):1451-1466.
- 475 6. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2022 Viral Hepatitis Surveillance
- 476 Report. Atlanta: US Department of Health and Human Services.
- 477 https://www.cdc.gov/hepatitis/statistics/2022surveillance/index.htm.
- Hall EW, Bradley H, Barker LK, et al. Estimating hepatitis C prevalence in the
 United States, 2017-2020. Hepatology. 2024. Epub 20240513.
- 480 8. Cacoub P, et al. Extrahepatic manifestations associated with hepatitis C virus infection.
- A prospective multicenter study of 321 patients. The GERMIVIC. Groupe d'Etude et de Recherche en Medecine Interne et Maladies Infectiousness sur le Virus de l'Hepatite C.
- 483 Medicine (Baltimore). 2000; 79(1):47.
- Ferri C, et. al. International diagnostic guidelines for patients with HCV-related extrahepatic manifestations. A multidisciplinary expert statement. Autoimmun Rev 2016; 15(12):1145.
- Extrahepatic Conditions Related to HCV Infection Evaluation, Staging, and Monitoring of Chronic Hepatitis C Hepatitis C Online, Core Concepts, accessed August 30, 2024.
 https://www.hepatitisc.uw.edu/go/evaluation-staging-monitoring/extrahepatic-
- 490 conditions/core-concept/all#citations
- Maruyama S, et al. Serum immunoglobulins in patients with chronic hepatitis C: a surrogate marker of disease severity and treatment outcome. Hepatogastroenterology 2007; 54(74):493.
- 494 12. Ramos-Casals M, et al. Sjögren syndrome associated with hepatitis C virus: a multicenter analysis of 137 cases. Medicine (Baltimore) 2005; 84(2):81.
- 496 13. Wilson SE. Mooren's corneal ulcers and hepatitis C virus infection. N Engl J Med 1993;
 497 329(1):62.
- 498 14. Ali Y, et al. Refractory scleritis in a patient with cryoglobulinemia and hepatitis C. J Clin Rheumatol 1999; 5(6):371.
- 500 15. Moder KG, et al. Scleritis associated with viral hepatitis C: Report of a case. J Clin Rheumatol 2000; 6:166.
- 502 16. Jacobi C, et al. Hepatitis C and ocular surface disease. Am J Ophthalmol 2007; 503 144(5):705.
- Matsumori A, et al. Hepatitis C virus from the hearts of patients with myocarditis and cardiomyopathy. Lab Invest 2000; 80(7):1137.

- Monaco S, et al. HCV-associated neurocognitive and neuropsychiatric disorders: Advances in 2015. World J Gastroenterol 2015; 21(42): 11974–11983.
- 508 19. Frank C, et. al. The role of parenteral antischistosomal therapy in the spread of hepatitis C virus in Egypt. Lancet 2000; 355(9207):887.
- Alter MJ, et al. Sporadic non-A, non-B hepatitis: frequency and epidemiology in an urban U.S. population. J Infect Dis 1982; 145(6):886
- 512 21. Murphy EL, et al. Risk factors for hepatitis C virus infection in United States blood
- donors. NHLBI Retrovirus Epidemiology Donor Study (REDS). Hepatology 2000; 31(3):756.
- Paintisil E, et al. Survival of hepatitis C virus in syringes: implication for transmission among injection drug users. J Infect Dis 2010; 202(7):984.
- Nelson PK, et al. Global epidemiology of hepatitis B and hepatitis C in people who inject drugs: results of systematic reviews. Lancet 2011; 378(9791):571.
- 519 24. McMahon AS, et al. Intranasal transmission of hepatitis C virus: virological and clinical evidence. Clin Infect Dis 2008; 47(7):931.
- 521 25. Fernandez N, et al. Sharing of Snorting Straws and Hepatitis C Virus Infection in Pregnant Women. Obstet Gynecol 2016; 128(2):234.
- 523 26. Alter MJ, et al. National surveillance of dialysis-associated diseases in the United States, 524 1989. ASAIO Tran 1991; 37(2):97.
- 525 27. Stark K, et al. Nosocomial transmission of hepatitis C virus from an anesthesiologist to three patients--epidemiologic and molecular evidence. Arch Virol 2006; 151(5):1025.
- 527 28. Krause G, et al. Nosocomial transmission of hepatitis C virus associated with the use of multidose saline vials. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2003; 24(2):122.
- 529 29. Sanchez-Tapias JM. Nosocomial transmission of hepatitis C virus. J Hepatol 1999; 31 Suppl 1:107.
- 531 30. Liang TJ, et al. Pathogenesis, natural history, treatment, and prevention of hepatitis C. Ann Intern Med 2000; 132(4):296-305.
- Thomas DL, Seeff LB. Natural history of hepatitis C. Clin Liver Dis 2005; 9(3):383-398.
- 534 32. Seeff LB, the NHLBI Study Group. Mortality and morbidity of transfusion-associated
- 535 non-A, non-B (NANB) and type C hepatitis: an NHLBI multi-center study. Hepatology 1994; 20:204A.
- 537 33. Barrera JM, et al. Persistent hepatitis C viremia after acute self-limiting posttransfusion hepatitis C. Hepatology 1995; 21(3):639-644.
- 539 34. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Sexual transmission of hepatitis C virus among HIV-infected men who have sex with men--New York City, 2005-2010.
- Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2011; 60(28):945-950.
- 542 <u>https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/pdf/wk/mm6028.pdf.</u>
- 543 35. Terrault NA. Sexual activity as a risk factor for hepatitis C. HEPATO-LOGY 2002; 36(5 Suppl. 1: S99-S105.
- Alter M, et al. Importance of heterosexual activity in the transmission of hepatis B and non-A non-B hepatitis. JAMA 1989; 262:1201-1205.5.
- Tahan V, et. al. Sexual transmission of HCV between spouses. Am J Gastroenterol 2005; 100:821-824.6.
- 549 38. Glynn SA, et al. Demographic Characteristics, Unreported Risk Behaviors, and The
- Prevalence and Incidence of Viral Infections: A Comparison of Apheresis and Whole-

- Blood Donors. The Retrovirus Epidemiology Donor Study. Transfusion 1998; 38:350-358.
- 553 39. Alter, M.J., et al. The Prevalence of Hepatitis C Virus Infection in the United States, 1988 through 1994. N Engl J Med 1999; 341:556-562.
- 555 40. Armstrong, G.L., et al. The Past Incidence of Hepatitis C Virus Infection: Implications 556 for the Future Burden of Chronic Liver Disease in the United States. Hepatology 2000; 557 31:777-782.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Recommendations for Prevention and
 Control of Hepatitis C Virus (HCV) Infection and HCV-related Chronic Disease. Morb
 Mortal Wkly Rep 1998; 47:1-39. https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/pdf/rr/rr4719.pdf.
- Thomas DL, et al. Hepatitis C, Hepatitis B, and Human Immunodeficiency Virus
 Infections Among Non-Intravenous Drug-Using Patients Attending Clinics for Sexually
 Transmitted Diseases. J Infect Dis 1994; 169:990-995.
- Wejstal R. Sexual transmission of hepatitis C virus. J Hepatol 1999;13: S92–S95.
- 565 44. Yazdanpanah Y, et al. Risk factors for hepatitis C virus transmission to health care workers after occupational exposure: a European case-control study. Clin Infect Dis. 2005 Nov 15; 41(10):1423-1430.
- 568 45. Ergo FM, et al. Seroconversion rates among health care workers exposed to 569 hepatitis C virus-contaminated body fluids: The University of Pittsburgh 13-year 570 experience. Am J Infect Control. 2017 Sep 1; 45(9):1001-1005.
- Tomkins SE, et al. Occupational transmission of hepatitis C in healthcare workers and factors associated with seroconversion: UK surveillance data. J Viral Hepat. 2012 Mar; 19(3):199-204.
- 574 47. Diago M, et al. Intrafamily transmission of hepatitis C virus: sexual and non-575 sexual contacts. J Hepatol. 1996 Aug; 25(2):125-128.
- 576 48. Cozzolongo R, et al. Epidemiology of HCV infection in the general population: 577 a survey in a southern Italian town. Am J Gastroenterol. 2009 Nov; 578 104(11):2740-2746.
- 579 49. Ackerman Z, et al. Intrafamilial transmission of hepatitis C virus: a systematic review. Journal of Viral Hepatitis 2000; Vol.7(2):93-103.
- 581 50. Ahn J, Cohen SM. Transmission of human immunodeficiency virus and hepatitis C virus through liver transplantation. Liver Transpl 2008; 14:1603-1608.
- 583 51. Public Health Service Inter-Agency Guidelines for Screening Donors of Blood, Plasma, 584 Organs, Tissues, and Semen for Evidence of Hepatitis B and Hepatitis C. Morb Mortal 585 Wkly Rep 1991; 40:1-17.
- 586 52. Pereira BJ, et al. Transmission of hepatitis C virus by organ transplantation. N Engl J Med 1991; 325:454-460.
- 588 53. Roth D, et al. Detection of hepatitis C virus infection among cadaver organ donors: evidence for low transmission of disease. Ann Intern Med 1992.
- 590 54. Tesi RJ, et al. Transmission of hepatitis C by kidney transplantation—the risks. Transplantation 1994; 57:826-831.
- 592 55. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Hepatitis C virus transmission from an antibody-negative organ and tissue donor United States, 2000 –2002. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2003; 52:273–274, 276.

- Tugwell BD, et al. Transmission of Hepatitis C Virus to Several Organ and Tissue Recipients from an Antibody-Negative Donor. Ann Intern Med 2005; 143(9):648-654.
- 597 57. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Potential transmission of viral hepatitis 598 through use of stored blood vessels as conduits in organ transplantation – Pennsylvania, 599 2009. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2011; 60:172–174.
- White, SL. Infectious Disease Transmission in Solid Organ Transplantation: Donor
 Evaluation, Recipient Risk, and Outcomes of Transmission. Transplant Direct 2019;
 5(1): e416
- 603 59. Conrad EU, Gretch DR, Obermeyer KR, et al. Transmission of the hepatitis C virus by tissue transplantation. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1995; 77:214–224.
- 605 60. Eastlund T, Warwick RM. Diseases Transmitted by Transplantation of Tissue and Cell
 606 Allografts. Chapter 4 in Tissue & Cell Clinical Use: An Essential Guide, Blackwell
 607 Publishing Ltd., 2012.
- 608 61. Shuhart MC, Myerson D, Childs BH, et al. Marrow transplantation from hepatitis C virus seropositive donors: transmission rate and clinical course. Blood 1994; 84:3229–610 3235.
- 611 62. Hsiao HH. Hepatitis C transmission from viremic donors in hematopoietic stem cell transplant. Transpl Infect Dis 2014; 16(6):1003-1006.
- 613 63. Zou S, et al. Probability of Viremia with HBV, HCV, HIV, and HTLV Among Tissue Donors in the United States. N Engl J Med 2004; 351:751-759.
- 615 64. Steele WR, et al. HIV, HCV, and HBV incidence and residual risk in US blood donors before and after implementation of the 12-month deferral policy for men who have sex with men. Transfusion. 2021 Jan 18. doi: 10.1111/trf.16250.
- 618 65. Steele WR, et al. Prevalence of human immunodeficiency virus, hepatitis B virus, and hepatitis C virus in United States blood donations, 2015 to 2019: The TransfusionContract Transmissible Infections Monitoring System (TTIMS), Transfusion 2020; 60;(10); 2327Contract Transmissible Infections Monitoring System (TTIMS), Transfusion 2020; 60;(10); 2327Contract Transmissible Infections Monitoring System (TTIMS), Transfusion 2020; 60;(10); 2327Contract Transmissible Infections Monitoring System (TTIMS), Transfusion 2020; 60;(10); 2327Contract Transmissible Infections Monitoring System (TTIMS), Transfusion 2020; 60;(10); 2327Contract Transmissible Infections Monitoring System (TTIMS), Transfusion 2020; 60;(10); 2327Contract Transmissible Infections Monitoring System (TTIMS), Transfusion 2020; 60;(10); 2327Contract Transmissible Infections Monitoring System (TTIMS), Transfusion 2020; 60;(10); 2327Contract Transmissible Infections Monitoring System (TTIMS)
- 622 66. Custer B, Stramer SL, Glynn S, Williams AE. Transfusion-transmissible infection 623 monitoring system: a tool to monitor changes in blood safety. Transfusion. 2016; 624 56:1499-1502.
- Food and Drug Administration, Guidance for Industry: Recommendations for Evaluating
 Donor Eligibility Using Individual Risk-Based Questions to Reduce the Risk of Human
 Immunodeficiency Virus Transmission by Blood and Blood Products (May 2023).
 https://www.fda.gov/media/164829/download.
- 629 68. Assessing Donor Variability And New Concepts in Eligibility (ADVANCE) Study, https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/trf.17515.
- 631 69. Caffrey N, Goldman M, Lewin A, Grégoire Y, Yi Q-L, O'Brien S, Removing the men 632 who have sex with men blood donation deferral: Informing the risk models using 633 Canadian public health surveillance data, Transfusion Clinique et Biologique, 2022; 634 29:198-204.
- 635 70. O'Brien SF, Goldman M, Robillard P, et al., Donor screening question alternatives to men who have sex with men time deferral: Potential impact on donor deferral and discomfort, Transfusion 2021; 61:94–101.
- 638 71. Goldman M, Lewin A, Ren'ud C, O'Brien SF. Implementation of sexual risk behavior donor screening in Canada. Transfusion. 2024 May 17.

- 640 72. Advisory Committee on the Safety of Blood, Tissues and Organs (SaBTO). Donor 641 Selection Criteria Report. July 2017; https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/blood-tissue-and-cell-donor-selection-criteria-report-2017.
- FAIR. Can donor selection policy move from a population-based donor selection policy to one based on a more individualized risk assessment? Conclusions from the For the Assessment of Individualized Risk (FAIR) group; 2020.
- Patel P, et al. Estimating per-act HIV transmission risk: A systematic review. AIDS 2014; 28:1509-1519.
- 648 75. NHS Blood and Transplant. Our Improved Donations Safety Check.
- 649 https://www.blood.co.uk/news-and-campaigns/the-donor/latest-stories/our-improved-donation-safety-check/.
- Jones JM, Gurbaxani BM, Asher A, et al. Quantifying the risk of undetected HIV, hepatitis B virus, or hepatitis C virus infection in Public Health Service increased risk donors. Am J Transplant 2019; 19:2583–2593.
- Jones JM, et. al. Assessing Solid Organ Donors and Monitoring Transplant Recipients
 for Human Immunodeficiency Virus, Hepatitis B Virus, and Hepatitis C Virus Infection
 —U.S. Public Health Service Guideline, 2020. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2020; 26;
 69(4):1-16.
- 658 78. Public Health Service Guideline for reducing human immunodeficiency virus, hepatitis B virus, and hepatitis C virus transmission through organ transplantation. Public Health Rep 2013; 128:247-343.
- 661 79. Leruez-Ville M, et al. Detection of hepatitis C virus in the semen of infected men. The Lancet 2000; 356(9223):42-43.
- Abara WE, et al. Characteristics of deceased solid organ donors and screening results for hepatitis B, C, and human immunodeficiency viruses—United States, 2010–2017. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2019; 68:61–66.
- Humar A, et al. Nucleic acid testing (NAT) of organ donors: is the 'best' test the right test? A consensus conference report. Am J Transplant 2010; 10:889–899.
- Association of Public Health Laboratories (APHL). Infectious Diseases, January 2019.
 Interpretation of Hepatitis C Virus Test Results: Guidance for Laboratories.
- Food and Drug Administration. Nucleic Acid Testing (NAT) for Human
 Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 (HIV-1) and Hepatitis C Virus (HCV): Testing, Product
 Disposition, and Donor Deferral and Reentry. Published May 2010, Updated December
 https://www.fda.gov/media/124144/download.
- 674 84. Strong DM, Nelson K, Pierce M, Stramer SL. Preventing disease transmission by deceased tissue donors by testing blood for viral nucleic acid. Cell Tissue Bank 2005; 6:255-262.
- Nucleic acid amplification testing of blood donors for transfusion-transmitted infectious diseases. Committee Report. Transfusion 2000; 40:143-159.
- 679 86. Pruss A, Caspari G, et al. Tissue donation and virus safety: more nucleic acid amplification testing is needed. Transplant Infectious Disease 2010; 12:375-386.
- 681 87. Orland JR, Wright TL, Cooper S. Acute hepatitis C. Hepatology 2001; 33(2):321–327.
- 682 88. Alter MJ, et al. The natural history of community-acquired hepatitis C in the United States. The Sentinel Counties Chronic non-A, non-B Hepatitis Study Team. N Engl J
- 684 Med 1992; 327(27):1899-1905.

- 685 89. Farci P, et al. A long-term study of hepatitis C virus replication in non-A, non-B hepatitis. N Engl J Med. 1991; 325(2):98-104.
- 687 90. Thomson EC, et al. Delayed anti-HCV antibody response in HIV-positive men acutely infected with HCV. AIDS 2009; 23(1):89-93.
- Vanhommerig JW, et al. Hepatitis C virus (HCV) antibody dynamics following acute HCV infection and reinfection among HIV-infected men who have sex with men. Clin Infect Dis 2014; 59(12):1678-1685.
- 692 92. El-Serag HB. Epidemiology of viral hepatitis and hepatocellular carcinoma. Gastroenterology 2012; 142(6):1264.
- 694 93. National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute. Health Topics: Blood Transfusion.
 695 https://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health-topics/blood-transfusion.
- 696 94. Marwaha N, Sachdev S. Current testing strategies for hepatitis C virus infection in blood donors and the way forward. World J Gastroenterol. 2014 Mar 21; 20(11): 2948–2954.
- Food and Drug Administration, Guidance for Industry: Use of Nucleic Acid Tests on Pooled and Individual Samples from Donors of Whole Blood and Blood Components (including Source Plasma and Source Leukocytes) to Adequately and Appropriately Reduce the Risk of Transmission of HIV-1 and HCV, October 2004. https://www.fda.gov/media/124349/download.
- Ragonnet R, et al. Estimating the Time to Diagnosis and the Chance of Spontaneous
 Clearance During Acute Hepatitis C in Human Immunodeficiency Virus-Infected
 Individuals. Open Forum Infect Dis. 2017 Winter; 4(1): ofw235.
- 97. Bobashev GV, Zule WA, Osilla KC, Kline TL, Wechsberg WM, Transactional Sex
 707 among Men and Women in the South at High Risk for HIV and Other STIs. J Urban
 708 Health. 2009 Jul; 86(Suppl 1): 32–47
 709 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2705487/.
- Javanbakht M, Ragsdale A, Shoptaw S, Gorbach PM, Transactional Sex among Men
 Who Have Sex with Men: Differences by Substance Use and HIV Status. J Urban
 Health (2019): 96:429-441.
- 713 99. Keosha T, Bond 1, Yoon IS, et al., Transactional Sex, Substance Use, and Sexual Risk: 714 Comparing Pay Direction for an Internet-Based U.S. Sample of Men Who Have Sex with 715 Men. Sex Res Social Policy. 2019 September; 16(3): 255–267.
- 716 100. Armstrong HL, Jordan M. Sang, et al., Factors associated with transactional sex among a cohort of gay, bisexual, and other men who have sex with men in Vancouver, Canada. 30 November 2021.
- Menza TW, Lipira L, Bhattarai A, Cali-De Leon V, Orellana ER, Prevalence and
 correlates of transactional sex among women of low socioeconomic status in Portland,
 OR. BMC Women's Health (2020) 20:219.
- 722 102. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Screening and Testing for HIV, Viral
 T23 Hepatitis, STD & Tuberculosis in Pregnancy. https://www.cdc.gov/pregnancy-hiv-std-tb-hepatitis/php/screening/.
- Nwaohiri A, et al. Hepatitis C virus infection in children: How do we prevent it and how do we treat it? Expert Rev Anti Infect Ther. 2018 Sep;16(9):689-694.
- 727 104. Benova L, et al. Vertical transmission of hepatitis C virus: systematic review and meta-728 analysis. Clin Infect Dis. 2014 Sep 15; 59(6)765-773.

- 729 105. Schillie S, et al. CDC Recommendations for Hepatitis C Screening Among Adults 730 United States, 2020. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2020; 69(No. RR-2):1–17.
- 731 106. Spaulding AC, et al. HIV and HCV in U.S. Prisons and Jails: The Correctional Facility as a Bellwether Over Time for the Community's Infections. AIDS Rev. 2017 Oct-Dec; 19(3):134-147.
- 734 107. Ruiz JD, et al. Prevalence and Correlates of Hepatitis C Virus Infection Among Inmates 735 Entering The California Correctional System. West J Med 1999; 170:156-160.
- 736 108. Hand WL, et al. Risk factors for hepatitis C on the Texas-Mexico border. Am J Gastroenterol. 2005 Oct; 100(10):2180-2185.
- 738 109. Balasekaran R, et al. A case-control study of risk factors for sporadic hepatitis C virus 739 infection in the southwestern United States. Am J Gastroenterol. 1999 May; 94(5):1341-740 1346.
- Haley RW, Fisher RP. Commercial tattooing as a potentially important source of hepatitis C infection: clinical epidemiology of 626 consecutive patients unaware of their hepatitis C serologic status. Medicine. 2001; 80:134–151.
- 744 111. Tohme R, Holmberg S. Transmission of Hepatitis C Virus Infection Through Tattooing and Piercing: A Critical Review. Clin Infect Dis. 2012 Apr; 54(8):1167–1178.
- 746 112. Tweeten SSM, et al. Infectious complications of body piercing. Clin Infect Dis. 1998 Mar; 26(3):735-740.
- 748 113. MacLennan S, et al. A study of anti-hepatitis C positive blood donors: the first year of screening. Transfusion Medicine 1994; 4:125–133.
- 750 114. Ko Y-C, et al. Tattooing as a risk of hepatitis C virus infection. J Med Virol 1992; 38:288–291.
- 752 115. Kiyosawa K, Tanake E, Sodeyama T, et al. Transmission of hepatitis C in an isolated area in Japan: community-acquired infection. Gastrenterology 1994; 160:1596–1602.
- 116. Lemos MA, et al. Acupuncture needles can carry hepatitis C virus. Infect Control Hosp
 Epidemiol. 2014 Oct; 35(10):1319-1321.
- 756 117. Carney K, et al. Association of Tattooing and Hepatitis C Virus Infection: A Multicenter Case-Control Study. Hepatology. 2013 Jun; 57(6):2117-2123.
- 758 118. Alter MJ. HCV routes of transmission: what goes around comes around. Semin Liver Dis. 2011 Nov; 31(4):340-346.
- Heiza M, Elmola K, Salama B. Unsafe Practices Associated with HCV Infection Among
 Adults: A Case Control Study. Int J Prev Med. 2021 Jun 18; 12:60.
- Jacene H, et al. Lymphadenopathy Resulting From Acute Hepatitis C Infection
 Mimicking Metastatic Breast Carcinoma on FDG PET/CTClin Nucl Med. 2006 Jul;
 31(7):379-381.
- 765 121. Zhang XM, et al. Chronic hepatitis C activity: correlation with lymphadenopathy on MR imaging. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2002 Aug; 179(2):417-422.
- 767 122. Dedania B, et al. Dermatologic Extrahepatic Manifestations of Hepatitis C. J Clin Transl Hepatol. 2015 Jun 28; 3(2):127-133.
- 769 123. Tohme R, Holmberg S. Is sexual contact a major mode of hepatitis C virus transmission? 770 Hepatology. 2010 Oct; 52(4):1497-1505.
- Lockart I, Matthews GV, Danta M. Sexually transmitted hepatitis C infection: the
 evolving epidemic in HIV-positive and HIV-negative MSM. Curr Opin Infect Dis. 2019;

- 773 32(1):31-37.
- 774 125. Price JC, et al. Sexually acquired hepatitis C infection in HIV-uninfected men who have sex with men using preexposure prophylaxis against HIV. J Infect Dis. 2019; 219(9):1373-1376.
- 777 126. Workowski KA, et al. Sexually Transmitted Infections Treatment Guidelines, 2021. 778 Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2021 Jul 23; 70(4):1-187.
- Urbanus AT, et al. Hepatitis C virus infections among HIV-infected men who have sex with men: an expanding epidemic. AIDS 2009; 23:F1–F7.
- 781 128. Todesco E, et al. High clustering of acute HCV infections and high rate of associated
 782 STIs among Parisian HIV positive male patients. Int J Antimicrob Agents 2019; 53:678–
 783 681.
- 784 129. Gerlach JT, et al. Acute hepatitis C: high rate of both spontaneous and treatment-785 induced viral clearance. Gastroenterology. 2003; 125(1):80.
- Loomba R, et al. The natural history of acute hepatitis C: clinical presentation,
 laboratory findings and treatment outcomes. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2011;
 33(5):559. Epub 2010 Dec 29.
- Jacene H, et al. Lymphadenopathy Resulting From Acute Hepatitis C Infection
 Mimicking Metastatic Breast Carcinoma on FDG PET/CTClin Nucl Med. 2006
 Jul; 31(7):379-381.
- 792 132. Zhang XM, et al. Chronic hepatitis C activity: correlation with lymphadenopathy
 793 on MR imaging. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2002 Aug; 179(2):417-422.